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DECISION
There is cause to discipline Starr R. Moore as a licensed real estate salesperson because she committed and pled guilty to the crimes of using another’s identity to commit identity theft and using unauthorized access devices to defraud.
Procedure

On August 7, 2008, the Missouri Real Estate Commission (“the MREC”) filed a complaint to establish cause to discipline Moore as a licensed real estate salesperson.  On November 8, 2008, we served Moore with a copy of the complaint and our notice of complaint/notice of hearing by certified mail.  Moore did not respond.  We held a hearing on February 9, 2009.  Assistant Attorney General Kevin Hall represented the MREC.  Neither Moore nor anyone representing her appeared.  The reporter filed the hearing transcript on February 9, 2009.
Findings of Fact

1.
The MREC licensed Moore as a real estate salesperson on May 27, 2005.  Moore’s license remained current and active and in good standing until September 30, 2008, when it expired.
2.
On February 4, 2005, the Grand Jury in the United States District Court for the District of Kansas (“the District Court”) returned the following indictment:
The Grand Jury charges:

BACKGROUND

At all times relevant to this Indictment:

*   *   *

4. 
Circuit City was a retail electronics business that operated in and the activities of which affected interstate commerce.
*   *   *

8. 
Rhodes Furniture was a furniture business that operated in and the activities of which affected interstate commerce.

*   *   *

10. 
Fred Meyer Jewelers was a retail jewelry business that operated in and the activities of which affected interstate commerce.
*   *   *

15.
 Defendant STARR MOORE (MOORE) used the name and identity of Allison Bowman.

*   *   *

Count 1
17. 
Paragraphs one through sixteen are incorporated as though fully set forth herein.

18. 
Beginning in or about February 2001, the exact date being unknown to the Grand Jury, and continuing to in or about May 
2003, both dates being approximate and inclusive, in the District of Kansas and elsewhere, the defendants,
SHAWN LEE,

CHRIS BRANHAM,
STARR MOORE,
and

ARTURO ROMERO,

knowingly and intentionally conspired and agreed together and with each other, with Shad Fish and with other persons known and unknown to the Grand Jury, to commit the following offenses against the United States:   use of another persons’ identification with intent to commit a state felony in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1028(a)(7) and, use of unauthorized access devices with intent to defraud in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1029(a)(2).

MANNER AND MEANS OF THE CONSPIRACY

19. 
It was part of the conspiracy that the defendants had access to a database that contained identifying information for other individuals.

20. 
It was further part of the conspiracy that the defendants used the identifying information for other individuals to produce fraudulent documents such as birth certificates.

21. 
It was a further part of the conspiracy that the defendants used the fraudulent documents to obtain false state identification documents such as driver’s licenses or non​-driving identification cards.

22. 
It was a further part of the conspiracy that the defendants used the false state identification documents to apply for and obtain instant credit from retail merchants.  
23. 
It was a further part of the conspiracy that the defendants used the false state identification documents to submit applications for credit cards, which the defendants received through the U.S. Mail.

24.
 It was a further part of the conspiracy that the defendants used the instant credit and credit cards obtained with false state identification documents to purchase merchandise.

25.
 It was a further part of the conspiracy that the defendants purchased specific items of merchandise, which were then used by the defendants, sold by the defendants at a reduced price, or exchanged for illegal drugs.

OVERT ACTS

26.
 In furtherance of this conspiracy and to effect and accomplish the objects of it, one or more of the defendants or conspirators, both indicted and unindicted, committed, among others, the following overt acts in the District of Kansas and elsewhere:

*   *   *

t. 
On or about January 3, 2002, MOORE obtained a Kansas driver’s license in the name of Allison Bowman.

u. 
On or about January 3, 2002, MOORE applied for instant credit in the name of Allison Bowman at Circuit City, 8440 North Madison Avenue, Kansas City, Missouri, and purchased merchandise in the amount of approximately $3,209.24.

v. 
On or about January 4, 2002, MOORE used store credit account in the name of Allison Bowman at Circuit City, 18701 East 39th Street, Independence, Missouri, and purchased merchandise in the amount of approximately $3,205.49.

*   *   *

y.
 On or about January 11, 2002, MOORE applied for instant credit in the name of Allison Bowman at Rhodes Furniture, 19110 East 39th Street, Independence, Missouri and purchased merchandise in the amount, of approximately $4,508.83.

*   *   *

bb.
 On or about January 25, 2002, MOORE applied for instant credit in the name of Allison Bowman at Fred Meyer Jewelers, 400 Northwest Barry Road, Kansas City, Missouri, and purchased merchandise in the amount of approximately $4,062.91.

*   *   *

28.
This was all in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 371.

3.
On October 25, 2005, Moore pled guilty to Count 1 of the indictment.  The District Court adjudicated Moore guilty of conspiracy to use another’s identity to commit identity theft and to use unauthorized access devices to defraud, Class D felonies pursuant to 18 USC § 371, 
§ 1028(a)(7), and § 1029(a)(2).  The District Court sentenced Moore to probation, imposed an assessment of $100, and ordered restitution in the amount of $16,440.95.

4.
On January 30, 2007, the District Court entered an amended judgment that added a condition to Moore’s probation.

5.
Moore committed the acts set forth in the indictment, as set out above.
Conclusions of Law


We have jurisdiction of the complaint even though Moore’s license has expired.
  The MREC has the burden to prove facts for which the law allows discipline.

I.  Commission of Acts Relating to Disqualification for Licensure


The MREC relies upon § 339.100.2(16), which authorizes discipline for “[c]ommitting any act which would otherwise be grounds for the commission to refuse to issue a license under section 339.040[.]”
A.  Establishing the Conduct


The MREC entered into evidence a copy of the indictment against Moore
 and the certified records of the judgment and amended judgment entered upon Moore’s guilty plea to Count 1 of the indictment.  These records prove that Moore committed the conduct set forth in Count 1 in two ways.
1.  Guilty Plea as Admission

First, the guilty plea constitutes an “admission” of the facts alleged in the indictment, which the defendant may explain.
  Moore, however, did not respond to the complaint, in which the MREC alleges that she committed these acts and pled guilty, and neither she nor any representative offered evidence at the hearing to deny or explain the charges.  Accordingly, we find that she committed the conduct alleged in the indictment and to which she pled guilty.
2.  Collateral Estoppel


In the alternative, criminal proceedings that result in convictions collaterally estop the defendant from offering any proof that she did not commit the acts for which she was convicted.
  
Collateral estoppel, a.k.a. issue preclusion, “precludes relitigation of an issue previously decided and incorporated into an earlier judgment.”  For an issue in the present action to be precluded by the doctrine of collateral estoppel: (1) it must be identical to an issue decided in a prior adjudication; (2) the prior adjudication must have resulted in a judgment on the merits; (3) the party against whom the doctrine is being asserted must have been a party or was in privity with a party to the prior adjudication; and, (4) the party against whom the doctrine is asserted must have had a full and fair opportunity to litigate the issue in the prior adjudication.[
]
Moore’s conviction meets the four requirements for the application of collateral estoppel.  First, the MREC is trying to establish the same criminal act for disciplining Moore’s license as the indictment charged.  Second, the criminal proceeding resulted in a judgment on the merits 
when the court imposed sentence.
  Under federal law, the imposition of probation is a sentence.
  Third, Moore is the person convicted in the criminal proceeding.  

The fourth requirement is particularly important in cases of offensive non-mutual collateral estoppel.  “The principle of non-mutual collateral estoppel, as adopted in Missouri, permits use of a prior judgment to preclude relitigation of an issue even though the party asserting the collateral estoppel was not a party to the prior case.”
  “[O]ffensive collateral estoppel normally involves the attempt by a plaintiff to rely on a prior adjudication of an issue to prevent the defendant from challenging a fact necessary to the plaintiff’s case and on which the plaintiff carries the burden of proof.”
  In this case, the MREC, which was not a party to the criminal case, attempts to prevent Moore from denying the conduct to which she pled guilty.

“Because of the higher burden of proof and other procedural protections, a defendant in a criminal case has a full and fair opportunity to litigate the elements of an offense[.]”
  Also:

[i]n exercising this discretion, the trial court must judge the concept of fairness based on the totality of the circumstances surrounding the prior and subsequent lawsuits.  For example, if during the prior lawsuit the defendant could foresee the subsequent suit, it would not be unfair to allow offensive use of collateral estoppel in the subsequent suit because defendant would have had the incentive to vigorously litigate the issue in the prior lawsuit.[
]  
Even in cases in which the prior proceeding was civil, the Missouri Supreme Court found it fair to allow the use of offensive non-mutual estoppel when it estopped an attorney in her Missouri 
disciplinary proceedings from re-litigating facts established in federal court disciplinary actions.

In this case, Moore received the higher protections of the criminal proceedings.  Moore had the incentive to vigorously defend herself in the criminal proceeding to avoid punishment.  Additionally, she could have anticipated that the MREC would use a criminal conviction to attempt to discipline her license.    
Through application of the principles of collateral estoppel, the MREC’s evidence establishes that Moore committed the conduct alleged in the indictment and to which she pled guilty.  
B.  Grounds for Refusal under § 339.040.1

The MREC contends that Moore’s conspiracy to defraud businesses of money and her carrying out of that conspiracy would disqualify any applicant engaging in such criminal activity from receiving a real estate salesperson license.  Section 339.040 provides:  


1.  Licenses shall be granted only to persons who present . . . satisfactory proof to the commission that they:


(1) Are persons of good moral character; and


(2) Bear a good reputation for honesty, integrity, and fair dealing; and

(3) Are competent to transact the business of a broker or salesperson in such a manner as to safeguard the interest of the public.

Good moral character is honesty, fairness, and respect for the law and the rights of others.
  Defrauding others of money through the use of false identification is contrary to good 
moral character.  The MREC could refuse a license to Moore under § 339.040.1(1) and therefore may discipline her under § 339.100.2(16).

Reputation means “the estimation in which one is generally held : the character commonly imputed to one as distinct from real or inherent character[.]”
  Reputation is a “consensus view of many people[.]”
  The MREC provided no basis for us to conclude that the MREC could refuse a license to Moore under § 339.040.1(2), because it presented no proof of Moore’s reputation.
Competence includes a general ability to perform an occupation and the disposition to do so.
  Moore’s skills as a real estate salesperson are not at issue.  The issue is the manner in which she would conduct such business in regard to the public interest.  Engaging in a conspiracy with others to defraud merchants of their merchandise with the use of false identification shows that Moore generally lacks the disposition to safeguard the interest of the public.  The MREC could refuse a license to Moore under § 339.040.1(3) and therefore may discipline her under § 339.100.2(16).


We conclude that there is cause to discipline Moore under § 339.100.2(16) because her conduct would serve as grounds to refuse to issue her a license under § 339.040.1(1) and (3).
II.  Plea of Guilty


Section 339.100.2(18) authorizes discipline against a licensee who:

entered a plea of guilty . . . in a criminal prosecution under the laws . . . of the United States, for any offense reasonably related to the qualifications, functions or duties of any profession licensed or regulated under this chapter, for any offense an essential element of which is fraud, dishonesty or an act of violence, or for any 
offense involving moral turpitude, whether or not sentence is imposed[.]

Moore pled guilty to conspiracy to use another’s identity to commit identity theft and to use unauthorized access devices to defraud.

18 USC § 371 provides:
If two or more persons conspire either to commit any offense against the United States, or to defraud the United States, or any agency thereof in any manner or for any purpose, and one or more of such persons do any act to effect the object of the conspiracy, each shall be fined under this title or imprisoned not more than five years, or both.
If, however, the offense, the commission of which is the object of the conspiracy, is a misdemeanor only, the punishment for such conspiracy shall not exceed the maximum punishment provided for such misdemeanor.
18 USC § 1028 provides:
(a) Whoever, in a circumstance described in subsection (c) of this section—
*   *   *
(7) knowingly transfers, possesses, or uses, without lawful authority, a means of identification of another person with the intent to commit, or to aid or abet, or in connection with, any unlawful activity that constitutes a violation of Federal law, or that constitutes a felony under any applicable State or local law; 
*   *   *
shall be punished as provided in subsection (b) of this section.
18 USC § 1029 provides:

(a) Whoever—
*   *   *
(2) knowingly and with intent to defraud traffics in or uses one or more unauthorized access devices during any one-year period, and 
by such conduct obtains anything of value aggregating $1,000 or more during that period; 

*   *   *

shall, if the offense affects interstate or foreign commerce, be punished as provided in subsection (c) of this section.
A.  Reasonable Relationship to 

Salesperson’s Qualifications, Functions or Duties

1.  Qualifications


The qualifications for a real estate salesperson include “good moral character” and competence “to transact the business of a broker or salesperson in such a manner as to safeguard the interest of the public.”
  The offenses to which Moore pled guilty are reasonably related to these qualifications, as we explained above regarding § 339.100.2(16).  
2.  Functions or Duties

The Court of Appeals has held:

The ordinary meaning of “function” applicable here is:  “1: professional or official position: OCCUPATION, 2: the action for which a person or thing is specially fitted or used or for which a thing exists.”  The shared meaning elements of synonyms of “function” is “the acts or operations expected of a person or thing.” 
Webster's New Collegiate Dictionary, 465 (1977).  The ordinary meaning of “duty” applicable here is:  “2a: obligatory tasks, conduct, service, or functions that arise from one’s position (as in life or in a group). 3a: a moral or legal obligation.”  Webster's New Collegiate Dictionary, 355 (1977).
Section 339.010.2 provides:

A “real estate salesperson” is any person who for a compensation or valuable consideration becomes associated, either as an independent contractor or employee, either directly or indirectly, with a real estate broker to do any of the things above mentioned. . . .

The “things above mentioned” are the functions or duties of a real estate broker listed in 
§ 339.010.1:

(1) Sells, exchanges, purchases, rents, or leases real estate;

(2) Offers to sell, exchange, purchase, rent or lease real estate;

(3) Negotiates or offers or agrees to negotiate the sale, exchange, purchase, rental or leasing of real estate;

(4) Lists or offers or agrees to list real estate for sale, lease, rental or exchange;

(5) Buys, sells, offers to buy or sell or otherwise deals in options on real estate or improvements thereon;

(6) Advertises or holds himself or herself out as a licensed real estate broker while engaged in the business of buying, selling, exchanging, renting, or leasing real estate;

(7) Assists or directs in the procuring of prospects, calculated to result in the sale, exchange, leasing or rental of real estate;

(8) Assists or directs in the negotiation of any transaction calculated or intended to result in the sale, exchange, leasing or rental of real estate;

(9) Engages in the business of charging to an unlicensed person an advance fee in connection with any contract whereby the real estate broker undertakes to promote the sale of that person’s 
real estate through its listing in a publication issued for such purpose intended to be circulated to the general public;

(10) Performs any of the foregoing acts on behalf of the owner of real estate, or interest therein, or improvements affixed thereon, for compensation.

Each of these functions involves handling the property, business, or financial interests of others.  In particular, we note that a real estate salesperson regularly accepts money from prospective buyers to be held in escrow under § 339.105 and may collect rents and rental deposits for others.  The offenses to which Moore pled guilty involved a premeditated scheme to 
defraud merchants of their merchandise through the use of false identifications.  These crimes involve flagrant violations not only of the businesses’ rights to their money for the purchases, but also of the rights of the innocent person whose identity Moore used.  The offenses are related to the functions or duties of a real estate salesperson.

B.  Fraud or Dishonesty 

as an Essential Element of the Offense

The MREC contends that fraud or dishonesty is an essential element of the crimes to which Moore pled guilty.  When interpreting statutory language practically identical to § 339.100.2(18), the Court of Appeals held:

Dishonesty or fraud must be an essential element of the crime.  In other words, the question is not whether this particular respondent was in fact guilty of a dishonest or fraudulent intent; rather, the question is whether the offense with which he was charged and to which he pleaded guilty is one necessitating proof of fraud or dishonesty-that is, always requiring that fraud or dishonesty be present as an element of the offense.

Fraud is an intentional perversion of truth to induce another to act in reliance upon it.
  Dishonesty is a lack of integrity, a disposition to defraud or deceive.
  


We have set forth above the statutory elements of the crimes to which Moore pled guilty.  Each has fraud and dishonesty as essential elements.  Therefore, Moore’s plea of guilty to those crimes is cause to discipline her under § 339.100.2(18).
C.  Moral Turpitude


The MREC contends that the crimes to which Moore pled guilty are offenses “involving moral turpitude.”  The Court of Appeals has held:
With regard to the matter of “moral turpitude,” it has been said that there are three classifications of crimes. . . .  Those classifications 
are (1) crimes that necessarily involve moral turpitude, such as frauds; (2) crimes “so obviously petty that conviction carries no suggestion of moral turpitude,” such as illegal parking; and (3) crimes that “may be saturated with moral turpitude,” yet do not involve it necessarily, such as willful failure to pay income tax or refusal to answer questions before a congressional committee.[
]


Moore’s crimes necessarily involve moral turpitude because they have fraud as an essential element.  Therefore, her plea of guilty to those crimes is cause for discipline under 
§ 339.100.2(18).

There is cause to discipline Moore under § 339.100.2(18) for her plea of guilty to conspiracy to use another’s identity to commit identity theft and to use unauthorized access devices to defraud because the crimes are reasonably related to the qualifications, functions, or duties of a real estate salesperson, have dishonesty as an essential element, and involve moral turpitude.
III.  Any Other Conduct


Section 339.100.2(19) authorizes discipline for “any other conduct which constitutes untrustworthy, improper or fraudulent business dealings, demonstrates bad faith or  incompetence, misconduct or gross negligence.”
  The adjective “other” means “not the same : DIFFERENT, any [other] man would have done better[.]”
  Therefore, subdivision (19) refers to conduct different from that referred to in the remaining subdivisions of § 339.100.2.  We have found that the conduct at issue is cause for discipline under § 339.100.2(16) and (18).  There is no “other” conduct.  Therefore, we find no cause for discipline under § 339.100.2(19).
Summary

There is cause to discipline Moore as a licensed real estate salesperson under 

§ 339.100.2(16) and (18).

SO ORDERED on February 24, 2009.


________________________________



NIMROD T. CHAPEL, JR.       


Commissioner
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